FILED Jan 03, 2017 Court of Áppeals
Division III State of Washington

WASHINGTON STATE

Supreme Court No.

Court of Appeals No. 32507-5-III

SUPREME COURT IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

JOHNATHON M. T. FLORES,

Defendant/Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVID N. GASCH WSBA No. 18270 P. O. Box 30339 Spokane, WA 99223-3005 (509) 443-9149 Attorney for Defendant/Petitioner

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER.

Petitioner asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review, designated in Part II of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals Opinion filed

December 6, 2016, affirming his conviction and sentence. A copy of the

Court's unpublished opinion is attached as Appendix A. This petition for
review is timely.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

- 1. Was Mr. Flores denied his constitutional right to a fair trial due to ineffective assistance of counsel because his trial attorney was not yet qualified under CrR 3.1, Standards for Indigent Defense, to conduct a trial involving two Class A felonies without supervision?
- 2. Was Mr. Flores denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel, when his attorney failed to object to numerous questions asked by the prosecutor on direct examination that were leading and/or elicited improper hearsay?
- 3. Was Mr. Flores denied his constitutional right to a fair trial due to ineffective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to ask the alleged victim on cross examination about previous statements contrary to

his testimony, thus barring impeachment of the victim's testimony through other testimony showing prior inconsistent statements?

4. Even if this Court should decide some of the claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are not sufficiently prejudicial under *Strickland*, do the cumulative deficiencies of defense counsel's representation require reversal?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Johnathon Flores was convicted by a jury of first degree robbery and first degree assault. CP 95-98. During his case in chief, the prosecutor asked numerous leading questions of State's witnesses on direct examination without objection. RP 142, 147-48, 181, 197, 200, 245-64, 285-95, 311-17, 324-25. The prosecutor also elicited multiple hearsay statements on direct examination from the State's witnesses without objection. RP 132-34, 140-41, 186, 240, 311-17, 321-25. The prosecutor had the State's final witness, Detective Russ Tallant, read verbatim a large portion of a recorded statement the victim provided to the police. RP 321-25. There was no hearsay objection by defense counsel. *Id*.

The combined testimony of the various State's witnesses implicated Mr. Flores as the co-perpetrator of an assault and robbery against the victim, Jeff Weitman. RP 129-327. Defense counsel's cross examination

of the vast majority of the State's witnesses lasted one minute or less. RP 135, 150-51, 171, 176-77, 241, 319-21. Defense counsel did not ask the victim about previous statements he made that were contrary to his testimony. RP 207-12.

The defense in its case sought to call Bob Gaines, the public defender investigator, to impeach the statements of the victim. Mr. Gaines would testify that the victim told him a different version of the incident, including that there was no physical contact. RP 365-66. The State objected to this testimony arguing it would be improper impeachment to allow Gaines' testimony, since defense counsel did not ask the victim about any statements he gave to the investigator when he cross-examined him. RP 371-72. The Court agreed and sustained the objection. RP 372-74.

The Court also sustained on that same basis the State's objection to defense counsel calling Michaela Flores who would testify that the victim had told her Mr. Flores was not the perpetrator. RP 375-77. Defense counsel then moved to recall the victim. The State objected arguing under ER 607 and *State v. Lavaris*¹ it is improper to call a witness solely to introduce impeachment testimony that is otherwise inadmissible. RP 378-

¹ 106 Wn.2d 340, 721 P.2d 515 (1986).

80. The Court sustained the objection and also noted the witness had been excused, was not subpoenaed by the defense, and defense counsel never reserved the right to recall the witness. *Id*.

The Law Office of [Melissa] MacDougall and [Michael] Prince, the Okanogan County Contract Indigent Defender, was appointed by the superior court to represent Mr. Flores on May 31, 2013. CP 156.

Mubarek Raheem, who was employed by MacDougall and Prince, became official counsel of record on December 16, 2013. CP 152-53, 154.

Fourteen months after the trial, Mr. Raheem filed a declaration in the superior court stating among other things, "Melissa MacDougall was qualified co-counsel on the case. During the trial itself, Melissa MacDougall did not appear at counsel table, or participate in the trial. I was aware that I was not yet qualified under CrR 3.1, Standards for Indigent Defense, to conduct a trial involving two Class A felonies by myself and had discussed that issue with Melissa MacDougall and Michael Prince prior to Mr. Flores['] trial." CP 153.

The Court of Appeals found trial counsel's performance was not ineffective and held violation of the Standards for Indigent Defense is merely evidence of ineffective assistance of counsel, not a categorical denial of counsel. Slip Op. pp 1, 14.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED.

The considerations which govern the decision to grant review are set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Petitioner believes that this court should accept review of these issues because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with other decisions of this court (RAP 13.4(b)(1)), involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the United States and state constitution (RAP 13.4(b)(3)), and involves an issue of substantial public interest (RAP 13.4(b)(4)).

This appeal involves two issues especially appropriate for review by the Washington Supreme Court. The first issue alleges ineffective assistance of counsel for trial counsel's failure to meet the qualifications of Standards 14.1 and 14.2 under CrR 3.1, Standards for Indigent Defense. The Washington Supreme Court summarily addressed this issue in *In re Gomez*, 180 Wn.2d 337, 325 P.3d 142 (2014), finding, "[trial counsel] met this prevailing standard for public defenders when he took Gomez's case in May 2004." 180 Wn.2d at 352. The Court also noted the Standards for Indigent Defense, std. 14.2 (2012), were not in effect at the time of Gomez' trial. 180 Wn.2d at 351, fn. 2.

By contrast, Mr. Flores' trial counsel *did not* meet the standards when he took Mr. Flores' case and the standards were in effect at the time

of Mr. Flores' trial. See Appellant's Brief pp. 28-29; CP 152-53.

Therefore, this case is one of first impression in addressing a violation of these standards.

The second issue especially appropriate for review by the Washington Supreme Court is whether Washington should adopt a cumulative error doctrine for multiple errors of ineffective assistance of counsel. To date, it appears Washington has not officially adopted this doctrine. See e.g. *In re Cross*, 180 Wn.2d 664, 690–91, 327 P.3d 660(2014). In *Cross*, the Court addressed cumulative error but not in the context of the multiple claimed errors of ineffective assistance of counsel. 180 Wn.2d at 690–730. It also does not appear that Cross argued cumulative error in that context. *Id.* Mr. Flores is arguing cumulative error for multiple errors of ineffective assistance of counsel, and is asking the Court to follow the lead of the Ninth Circuit and adopt a similar doctrine.

1. Mr. Flores was denied his constitutional right to a fair trial due to ineffective assistance of counsel because his trial attorney was not yet qualified under CrR 3.1, Standards for Indigent Defense, to conduct a trial involving two Class A felonies without supervision.

Effective assistance of counsel is guaranteed by both U.S. Const. amend. VI and Wash. Const. art. I, § 22 (amend. x). *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2063-64, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); *State v. Mierz*, 127 Wn.2d 460, 471, 901 P.2d 286 (1995). In *Strickland*, the Court established a two-part test for ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the defendant must show deficient performance. *State v. Lord*, 117 Wn.2d 829, 883, 822 P.2d 177 (1991), cert. denied, 506 U.S. 856, 113 S.Ct. 164, 121 L.Ed.2d 112 (1992). The presumption that defense counsel performed adequately is overcome when there is no conceivable legitimate tactic explaining counsel's performance. *State v. Reichenbach*, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004).

Second, the defendant must show prejudice--"that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2064. This showing is made when there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222, 226, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). In egregious circumstances, on testimony central to the State's case, the failure to object may constitute incompetence of counsel justifying reversal. *State v. Neidigh*, 78 Wn. App. 71, 77, 895 P.2d 423 (1995). Appellate review of

this issue is de novo. *State v. White*, 80 Wn. App. 406, 410, 907 P.2d 310 (1995).

CrR 3.1, STANDARDS FOR INDIGENT DEFENSE, provides in pertinent part:

Standard 14.1. In order to assure that indigent accused receive the effective assistance of counsel to which they are constitutionally entitled, attorneys providing defense services shall meet the following minimum professional qualifications:

. . .

B. Be familiar with the statutes, court rules, constitutional provisions, and case law relevant to their practice area . . .

. . .

G. Complete seven hours of continuing legal education within each calendar year in courses relating to their public defense practice.

Standard 14.2. Attorneys' qualifications according to severity or type of case

. .

- B. <u>Adult Felony Cases—Class A.</u> Each attorney representing a defendant accused of a Class A felony as defined in RCW 9A.20.020 shall meet the following requirements:
 - i. The minimum requirements set forth in Section 1; and
 - ii. Either:
 - a. has served two years as a prosecutor; or
 - b. has served two years as a public defender; or two years in a private criminal practice; and

iii. Has been trial counsel alone or with other counsel and handled a significant portion of the trial in three felony cases that have been submitted to a jury.

Court rules are interpreted by reference to rules of statutory construction. *State v. Greenwood*, 120 Wn.2d 585, 592, 845 P.2d 971 (1993). Courts give words in a statute their plain and ordinary meaning unless a contrary intent is evidenced in the statute. *In re Estate of Little*, 106 Wn.2d 269, 283, 721 P.2d 950 (1986). It is well settled that the word "shall" in a statute is presumptively imperative and operates to create a duty. *Crown Cascade, Inc. v. O'Neal*, 100 Wn.2d 256, 261, 668 P.2d 585 (1983); *State v. Q.D.*, 102 Wn.2d 19, 29, 685 P.2d 557 (1984).

Applying these principles to CrR 3.1, the language in *Standard 14.1* stating, "attorneys providing defense services *shall* meet the following minimum professional qualifications," imposes a mandatory requirement of compliance. CrR 3.1, *Standard 14.1* (emphasis added). Similarly, the language in *Standard 14.2(B)* that provides, "Each attorney representing a defendant accused of a Class A felony as defined in RCW 9A.20.020 *shall* meet the following requirements," imposes a mandatory requirement of compliance. CrR 3.1, *Standard 14.2(B)* (emphasis added).

Here, Mr. Raheem by admission did not meet the mandatory requirements of CrR 3.1 to represent Mr. Flores by himself in this case. CP

152-53. Standard 14.2(B) mandates that an attorney serve two years as a public defender or prosecutor, or two years in a private criminal practice before representing a defendant accused of a Class A felony. Mr. Raheem had only been employed as a public defender for 7 1/2 months at the time of Mr. Flores' trial. CP 152.

The Law Office of [Melissa] MacDougall and [Michael] Prince, the Okanogan County Contract Indigent Defender, was appointed by the superior court to represent Mr. Flores on May 31, 2013. CP 156. Mr. Raheem, was employed by MacDougall and Prince and became official counsel of record on December 16, 2013. CP 152-53, 154. The Court of Appeals is incorrect in its assertion that "The relationship between Okanogan County's indigent contract defender and appointees such as Mr. Raheem has not been explained." *Id.*; Slip Op p. 11.

It is equally clear from Mr. Raheem's declaration that both Melissa MacDougall and Michael Prince were aware Mr. Raheem was not yet qualified under CrR 3.1 to conduct a trial involving two Class A felonies by himself. CP 153. Melissa MacDougall was supposed to be the qualified co-counsel on the case. CP 153. Yet during the trial itself, Melissa MacDougall did not appear at counsel table, or participate in the trial. CP 153.

It is undisputed from these facts the Law Office of MacDougall and Prince violated CrR 3.1 and deprived Mr. Flores of effective assistance of counsel by allowing (or ordering) Mr. Raheem to conduct the trial alone without supervision. Since this is a violation of a statutory mandatory requirement, it should constitute deficient performance per se and prejudice should be presumed.

The Washington Supreme Court decided a similar issue in *City of Seattle v. Ratliff*, 100 Wn.2d 212, 667 P.2d 630, 635 (1983). In that case, a Rule 9 intern was not permitted by the trial court to comply with the rule's requirement that he consult with his supervisor. This Court held failure to comply with the rule resulted in a denial of counsel, with no showing of prejudice required to reverse the conviction: "an outright denial of counsel is conclusively presumed to be prejudicial." *Ratliff*, 100 Wn.2d at 219.

Likewise, in *Wilbur v. City of Mount Vernon*, 989 F. Supp. 2d 1122 (W.D. Wash. 2013), the federal district court held two Washington cities liable for denying counsel because the attorneys assigned had so many cases that they were not able to provide competent representation to their clients.

Recently, the South Carolina Supreme Court held appointed counsel's failure to comply with statutorily required qualifications in a capital case constituted deficient performance *per se. Robertson v. South Carolina* ___S.E.2d___, Opinion No. 27691, WL 7230196 (December 14, 2016). This Court should hold the same in this case.

2. Mr. Flores was denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel, when his attorney failed to object to numerous questions asked by the prosecutor on direct examination that were leading and/or elicited improper hearsay.

During its case in chief, the State asked numerous leading questions of State's witnesses on direct examination and elicited multiple hearsay statements without objection. RP 132-34, 140-41, RP 142, 147-48, 181, 186, 197, 200, 240, 245-64, 285-95, 311-17, 321-25. See Appellant's Brief pp 10-15 for specific examples. Defense counsel's failure to object constituted deficient performance. Examples can be found throughout the record with nearly all the State's witnesses. The prosecutor's direct examination of Faith Flores and Sandra McCorkle was especially egregious. See Appellant's Brief pp 16-17; RP 245-63; 285-95. The tone and content of these leading questions sounded more like cross-

examination than direct examination. There was no objection to these questions or to the many similar questions asked by the prosecutor.

Perhaps the most egregious hearsay occurred when the prosecutor had the State's final witness, Detective Russ Tallant, read verbatim a large portion of a recorded statement the victim provided to the police. RP 321-25. There was no hearsay objection by defense counsel. *Id*.

Most of the elicited hearsay testimony directly implicated the defendant as the co-perpetrator of the charged crimes. There is no conceivable tactical advantage in not objecting to these improper questions and answers. Since this testimony was clearly central to the State's case, defense counsel's failure to object qualified as an "egregious circumstances." *Neidigh*, 78 Wn. App. at 77.

Prejudice. The State's remaining lay witnesses were not all that helpful to the State's case--even with all the leading questions. The single exception would be the testimony of the victim. However, his testimony would have been impeached by extrinsic evidence of prior inconsistent statements absent further evidentiary blunders by defense counsel (discussed in the next issue). Faith Flores, the defendant's sister, witnessed the altercation but testified Weitman, the alleged victim, started the fight by

hitting Mr. Flores' brother in the face. RP 274-76. Sandra McCorkle, the renter of the house where the incident happened, was in the back bedroom and did not witness the assault. RP 295. She testified she heard noises like glass breaking, but when she returned to the main part of the house, the altercation was over and the victim had left. RP 298-99.

Thus, without the copious amount of improper hearsay from law enforcement officers, there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. *Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d at 226.

3. Mr. Flores was denied his constitutional right to a fair trial due to ineffective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to ask the alleged victim on cross examination about previous statements contrary to his testimony, thus barring impeachment of the victim's testimony through other testimony showing prior inconsistent statements.

Defense counsel's deficient performance was demonstrated by cursory or non-existent cross-examination of the vast majority of the State's witnesses. In most instances his cross-examination lasted one minute or less. RP 135, 150-51, 171, 176-77, 241, 319-21. The most critical omission by defense counsel occurred when he failed to ask the

victim about previous statements he made that were contrary to his testimony before attempting to impeach his testimony with extrinsic evidence. RP 207-12.

ER 613(b) provides that extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement is not admissible in the absence of a proper foundation. The rule states in part that "[e]xtrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement by a witness is not admissible unless the witness is afforded an opportunity to explain or deny the same and the opposite party is afforded an opportunity to interrogate the witness thereon ..." ER 613(b).

In *State v. Horton*, defense counsel wanted to impeach the alleged rape victim's trial testimony that she had not had sexual intercourse with anyone other than Horton by calling two extrinsic witnesses, each of whom would say that the victim, before trial, had acknowledged sexual activity with others. *State v. Horton*, 116 Wn. App. 909, 916, 68 P.3d 1145 (2003). Counsel failed to give the victim an opportunity to explain or deny her pretrial statements by calling them to her attention while she was on the stand, or by arranging for her to remain in attendance after testifying. *Id*. The Court found defense counsel's failure to comply with ER 613(b) constituted deficient performance. *Id*. at 920. The Court stated:

The record shows that non-compliance with ER 613(b) was entirely to Horton's detriment; that compliance with ER 613(b) would have been *only* to his benefit; and thus that counsel's non-compliance could not have been a strategy or tactic designed to further his interests. Holding that an objectively reasonable attorney would have complied with ER 613(b) under the circumstances here, we conclude that defense counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.

Id. at 916-17 (emphasis in original).

Here, after the state rested, defense counsel sought to call Bob Gaines, the public defender investigator, to impeach the statements of the victim. Mr. Gaines would have testified the victim told him a different version of the incident, including that there was no physical contact. RP 365-66. The State objected to this testimony arguing it would be improper impeachment to allow Gaines' testimony, since defense counsel did not ask the victim about any statements he gave to the investigator when he cross-examined him. RP 371-72. The Court agreed and sustained the objection. RP 372-74.

The Court also sustained on that same basis the State's objection to defense counsel calling Michaela Flores who would have testified the victim told her Mr. Flores was not the perpetrator. RP 375-77. Defense counsel then moved to recall the victim. The State objected arguing it was improper to call a witness solely to introduce impeachment testimony that is otherwise inadmissible. RP 378-80. The Court sustained the objection

and also noted the witness had been excused, was not subpoenaed by the defense, and defense counsel never reserved the right to recall the witness.

Id.

As in *Horton*, compliance with ER 613(b) would have been *only* to Mr. Flores' benefit. The prior statements that Mr. Flores was not the perpetrator and that there was no physical contact could have potentially exonerated Mr. Flores resulting in an acquittal. Thus, counsel's noncompliance could not have been a strategy or tactic designed to further Mr. Flores' interests. An objectively reasonable attorney would have complied with ER 613(b). Therefore, defense counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.

Prejudice. The Strickland prejudice prong is also met here.

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