RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Feb 02, 2017, 9:37 am

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 94047-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON

RESPONDENT

٧.

JOHNATHON FLORES

DEFENDANT / PETITIONER,

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

KARL F. SLOAN
Prosecuting Attorney
237 4th Avenue N.
P.O. Box 1130
Okanogan County, Washington

509-422-7280 Phone 509-422-7290 Fax

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

⁴ For all other claims of constitutional error, an overturning of a conviction is triggered by some error committed by the state or its agents, such as passing a vague law, see *Connally v. Gen. Const. Co.*, 269 U.S. 385, 393, 46 S. Ct. 126, 70 L. Ed. 322 (1926), coercing a confession, see *Brown v. State of Mississippi*, 297 U.S. 278, 286, 56 S. Ct. 461, 80 L. Ed. 682 (1936), or withholding exculpatory evidence, see *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 87, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963).

⁵ Under Strickland, courts do not presume prejudice unless the trial "loses its character as a confrontation between adversaries," *State v. Carson*, 184 Wash. 2d 207, 226, 357 P.3d 1064, 1074–75 (2015) (quoting *State v. Webbe*, 122 Wash. App. 683, 694–95, 94 P.3d 994 (2004)), as when there is (1) a complete denial of the assistance of counsel, (2) the State's interference with counsel's assistance, or (3) an actual conflict of interest. See *Webbe*, 122 Wash. App. 683; *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 692; *In re Davis*, 152 Wash. 2d 647, 674, 101 P.3d 1 (2004).

threatened when the state is forced to defend its convictions against conduct over which it has no control, and such threats should be minimized.

Reversing a conviction, particularly in collateral proceedings where these claims are usually litigated, is contrary to the "profound importance of finality in criminal proceedings." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693–694. Ineffective assistance litigation is a heavy burden on the criminal justice system. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690. To place some limits on the proliferation of such claims, *Strickland's* standard for judging the reasonableness of the attorney's conduct must be precisely and narrowly construed. An ineffective-assistance claim can function as a way to escape rules of waiver and forfeiture and raise issues not presented at trial, and so the *Strickland* standard must be applied with scrupulous care, lest "intrusive post-trial inquiry" threaten the integrity of the very adversary process the right to counsel is meant to serve. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689–690.

The question is whether an attorney's representation amounted to incompetence under "prevailing professional norms", not whether it deviated from best practices or most common custom. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690.

Beyond the general requirement of reasonableness, "specific guidelines are not appropriate." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688.

In giving shape to the perimeters of the range of reasonable professional assistance, *Strickland* mandates that the "[prevailing] norms of practice as reflected in American Bar Association Standards and the like... are guides to

determining what is reasonable, but they are only guides." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, these guidelines are not inexorable commands with which all defense counsel must fully comply. *Bobby v. Van Hook*, 558 U.S. 4, 130 S. Ct. 13, 17, 175 L. Ed. 2d 255 (2009).⁶ This is evident even in the preamble to the Washington Standard for Indigent Defense:

The Court adopts additional Standards beyond those required for certification **as guidance for public defense attorneys** in addressing issues identified in **State v.** A.N.J., 168 Wash. 2d 91, 225 P.3d 956 (2010)...(emphasis added).

WAR STDS INDIG DEF Preamble.7

The State Supreme Court recognized that opinions can differ regarding whether a defendant's interests are best served by one strategy or another. The decision, therefore, of what strategy to pursue must rest exclusively in trial counsel. *State v. Mode*, 57 Wash. 2d 829, 833, 360 P.2d 159 (1961). Counsel is also entitled, in the exercise of his professional talents and knowledge, to decide whether to lodge an objection. *State v. Lei*, 59 Wash. 2d 1, 6, 365 P.2d 609

⁶ To support his argument of SID non-compliance, Petitioner makes several assertions that are unsupported by the record. For example, Petitioner claimed that counsel did not satisfy the time requirement of the SID. See COA Opinion, pg. 6, fn 2. Petitioner also claimed that MacDougal and Prince did not assist counsel at trial. See COA Opinion, pg. 11, fn 3.

⁷ Petitioner argues that any violation of the SID should result in a per se finding of ineffective assistance of counsel. However, as the Court of Appeals noted, this would effectively impose a higher standard of representation for indigent defendants that the Sixth Amendment requires for retained counsel. COA Opinion, pg. 14-15. Petitioner also erroneously tries to analogize the SID to the requirements for representation on capital cases by citing to a South Carolina case. Petition, pg. 12. However, Petitioner fails to recognize the Washington standard in SPRC 2, which provides an exception to appointing counsel from the list, by allowing the court to appoint otherwise qualified counsel. If one were to accept Petitioner's argument, the courts would arguably have more latitude in appointing counsel in death penalty cases under SPRC 2, than appointing indigent defense counsel under the SID.

(1961). Even when counsel's decisions, in retrospect, appear to have been errors in judgment or trial strategy, incompetence is not established. *Lei*, 59 Wash. 2d 1; *Mode*, 57 Wash. 2d at 833 (Mistakes or errors of judgment do not establish the violation of a constitutional right.). It is only when the incompetence or neglect of a lawyer, either appointed or employed to defend one charged with crime, reduces the trial to a farce is the constitutional right violated. *Mode*, 57 Wash. 2d at 833.

Ineffective assistance claims are judged by the same standard whether counsel is retained or appointed. See Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 344–345, 100 S. Ct. 1708, 64 L. Ed. 2d 333 (1980).

Petitioner argues that the Court should reject its reliance on the *Strickland* standard and replace it with a completely opposition presumption, in which any deviation from the Standards of Indigent Defense guidelines creates a presumption that the attorney was not competent. The State Supreme Court rejected a similar assertion in *In re Gomez*, 180 Wash. 2d 337, 351–52, 325 P.3d 142, 149–50 (2014). The *Gomez* court reiterated *Strickland's* positon that prevailing professional standards may serve as guides for determining what is reasonable but may not serve as a checklist for evaluating attorney performance. *See, In re Gomez*, 180 Wash. 2d at 351 (rejecting argument the attorney fell below

objective standard where attorney's experience roughly met the prevailing professional standard).8

The standards are merely guidelines and do not create a new presumption of ineffective assistance of counsel.⁹ This is also apparent from the fact that the guidelines do not apply to all attorney's representing defendants in felony criminal matters, but only public defense attorneys. To find otherwise would negate the *Strickland* standard in only a unique subset of cases.¹⁰

To establish ineffective representation, the defendant must show that counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. To establish prejudice, a defendant must show that but for counsel's performance, the

⁸ The request to abandon the decades-long adherence to Strickland's presumption of competency should also be denied under the doctrine of stare decisis. Under this doctrine, this Court will reverse itself on an established rule of law only upon a showing that the rule is incorrect and harmful. State v. Ray, 130 Wash. 2d 673, 678, 926 P.2d 904 (1996). A decision is harmful when it has a detrimental effect on the public interest. State v. Siers, 174 Wash. 2d 269, 276, 274 P.3d 358 (2012).

⁹ The *Strickland* court appropriately stated: The availability of intrusive post-trial inquiry into attorney performance or of detailed guidelines for its evaluation would encourage the proliferation of ineffectiveness challenges. Criminal trials resolved unfavorably to the defendant would increasingly come to be followed by a second trial, this one of counsel's unsuccessful defense. Counsel's performance and even willingness to serve could be adversely affected. Intensive scrutiny of counsel and rigid requirements for acceptable assistance could dampen the ardor and impair the independence of defense counsel, discourage the acceptance of assigned cases, and undermine the trust between attorney and client. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690.

¹⁰ Similarly, any argument that the use of the guidelines as the standard for effective assistance of counsel is consistent with the Supreme Court's inherent power to maintain appropriate standards of professional conduct, ignores the fact that the Court has previously indicated that violations of Rules of Professional Conduct should be addressed through the disciplinary process rather than as a basis for relief in criminal matters. *See, State v. Lord*, 117 Wash. 2d 829, 887, 822 P.2d 177 (1991) (denying the defendant's motion to reverse the conviction and stating that "the remedy for a claimed violation of the RPC is a request for discipline by the bar association").

result would have been different." *State v. McNeal*, 145 Wash. 2d 352, 362, 37 P.3d 280 (2002). The failure to establish *either* prong of the test is fatal to an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. *State v. Johnson*, 189 Wash. App. 1046 (2015); *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 700.

The totality of the evidence presented in the case does not support a claim of ineffective assistance. Petitioner complains about the length of cross. Defense counsel generally conducted more sustained cross-examination of Mr. Weitman and Faith Flores than of law enforcement officers. The decision to not attempt extensive cross a law enforcement witness testifying about objective observations, is a valid trial decision to avoid providing the opportunity for more damaging testimony or subjective observations to be admitted.

Petitioner also complains about lack of objections to alleged leading questions. Even if questions are leading, the decision not to object is also a tactical decision, especially when the evidence would likely be admitted by rephrasing the question, the answered expanded, and evidence reinforced.

Courts are reluctant to find ineffective assistance of counsel except in the most extreme cases. Scrutiny of counsel's performance is highly deferential and courts must indulge in a strong presumption of reasonableness. *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wash. 2d 222, 226, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). This is particularly true where, as here, the alleged deficient performance consists of an attorney's failure to object. The decision of when or whether to object is a classic example of trial tactics.

Only in egregious circumstances, on testimony central to the State's case, will the failure to object constitute incompetence of counsel justifying reversal. *State v. Madison*, 53 Wash. App. 754, 763, 770 P.2d 662 (1989). Further, "[w]here a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel rests on trial counsel's failure to object, a defendant must show that an objection would likely have been sustained". *State v. Fortun-Cebada*, 158 Wash. App. 158, 172, 241 P.3d 800 (2010).¹¹

Petitioner cannot show that hypothetical objections would have been sustained. Even if defense counsel in this case had objected, proper grounds to admit the evidence existed. See Brief of Respondent, Sec. C, 1(a) and 1(b) for detailed argument regarding admissibility. See also, COA Opinion, pg. 17.

2. <u>Inability to call impeachment witnesses did not support a claim of ineffective assistance.</u>

Petitioner also argues trial counsel's failure to question the victim about previous statements was ineffective assistance of counsel. As discussed above, there is no basis to support a finding of ineffective assistance. Counsel's reliance on *State v. Horton*, 116 Wash. App. 909, 68 P.3d 1145, 1152 (2003) was misplaced. In *Horton*, the court found defense counsel could have defused a statement elicited

¹¹ Petitioner cites to *State v. Neidigh*, 78 Wash. App. 71, 77, 895 P.2d 423, 428 (1995), but that case further undercuts their argument. If the failure to object could have been legitimate trial strategy, it cannot serve as a basis for a claim of ineffective assistance. *See Neidigh*, 78 Wash. App. at 77–78 (defense counsel's failure to object to clearly improper questions on cross of defendant may have been strategic, and counsel may have concluded that it was preferable to let the jury hear the confident answers rather than to stop the questions).

from the victim by presenting evidence of earlier inconsistent statements not to one, but to two, persons whose credibility would have been hard to assail (i.e. a neutral CPS investigator, and the victim's long-time friend). *Horton*, 116 Wash. App. at 922.

That is far from the circumstances in the present case. The victim testified he told Michaela Flores he would probably not show up in court. Defense initially indicated to the court that they did not intend to call the witness Michaela Flores for impeachment purposes. Unlike in *Horton*, the defendant's wife would not have been unassailable. Her alleged allegations were not credible in light of the testimony from the victim, Faith Flores, Sandra McCorkle, Jesse Flores; or in light of the defendant's attempt to construct an alibi witness through Jana Mason.

Moreover, the victim indicated to police at the time of the incident, and at trial, that Jesse Flores was the person who pulled the knife and was the one who inflicted the stab wound. On cross exam, the victim said that Jesse was aggressive to him on the phone prior to the attack, and John Flores was not aggressive when he spoke with him on the phone. RP 207-208.

The allegations attributed to Ms. Flores for potential impeachment, would have been of minimal evidentiary value even if found admissible, and would not have addressed the defendant's clear culpability as an accomplice in the crimes.¹²

¹² Arguably, where accomplice liability is asserted, a claim that the defendant "didn't do it" would be an impermissible legal conclusion under ER 701.

Similarly, the proposed statement from Mr. Gains was found not to be inconsistent with the testimony of the victim. It was not proper impeachment.

Although the defense attempt to present impeachment evidence did not proceed as anticipated, it does not give rise to a finding of ineffective assistance of counsel.

3. <u>Any claimed errors were harmless based on the overwhelming evidence.</u>

An error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if untainted evidence admitted at trial is so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt. *State v. Thompson*, 151 Wash. 2d 793, 808, 92 P.3d 228 (2004). If error is not one of constitutional magnitude, reversal is not required unless the defendant can show that "within reasonable probabilities, had the error not occurred, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected." *State v. Roche*, 75 Wash. App. 500, 509, 878 P.2d 497, 502 (1994) (quoting *State v. Ray*, 116 Wash. 2d 531, 546, 806 P.2d 1220 (1991); *State v. Smith*, 106 Wash. 2d 772, 780, 725 P.2d 951 (1986)).

Even if the Court of Appeals had found error, the evidence was so overwhelming that it would lead to a finding of guilt. Here the defendant was alleged to have acted as a principal or accomplice. Even fully accepting the defendant's theory of the case the defendant was guilty as an accomplice. The defendant encouraged, requested, and/ or aided Jesse Flores and Faith Flores in

planning and committing the crime, with knowledge that it would promote or facilitate the crime. The defendant told the victim he was coming to "talk" to him, he arranged transportation to and from the crime scene, knew Jesse Flores possessed and threatened the victim with a knife before stabbing him, and prevented the victim from escaping until he had given up his property. Those facts established more than mere presence. However, the totality of evidence presented at trial went far beyond those facts conceded by defense. Any claimed error was harmless.

D. CONCLUSION

The defendant has not established his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, based on SID guidelines or the failure to object to questioning or to admit testimony not supported by the rules of evidence. The Petitioner's convictions should be affirmed.